
Meeting of:  Health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Date: Wednesday, 28th March, 2018
Time: 6.15 pm.
Venue: Hollingworth (Room 108ABC), First Floor, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  MINUTES 3 - 5

To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Health, Schools and 
Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 25th January 2018. 

5.  NORTH WEST AMBULANCE SERVICE NHS TRUST 

Representatives from North West Ambulance Service will attend to 
present to  their services and how they operate in Rochdale Borough 

6.  ADULT CARE MARKET OVERSIGHT REPORT: QUARTER 3 - 
2017/18 

6 - 19

To consider the Adult Care Market Oversight report for the third 
quarter of 2017/18 

Public Document Pack



7.  ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR ADAPTATIONS 20 - 26

A report that details additional government funding for adaptations 

8.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

9.  ADULT CARE FEE LEVELS FOR COMMISSIONING SERVICES 
FOR 2018/19 

27 - 77

Assistant Director (Adult Care Services) to report for information 

Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members
Councillor Ali Ahmed Councillor Sultan Ali
Councillor Cecile Biant Councillor Wendy Cocks
Councillor Ray Dutton Councillor James Gartside
Councillor Daniel Meredith Councillor Shaun O'Neill
Councillor Susan Smith Councillor Patricia Sullivan
Councillor Donna Williams

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Peter Thompson
Governance and Committee Services, Floor 2, Number One Riverside,
Smith Street, Rochdale

Telephone: 01706 924715
e-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 25 January 2018

PRESENT:  Councillor Wendy Cocks (Chair); Councillors Ahmed, Sultan Ali, 
Cecile Biant, Dutton, James Gartside, O'Neill, Smith, Sullivan and Williams

OFFICERS:  J. McGregor (Assistant Director – Children’s Social Care), S. 
Blezard (Director of Operations – Adult Social Care), K. Kenton (HMR 
CCG/RBC), G. Barrett (Head of Schools), A. Ion (Children’s Services), M. 
Garraway (Resources Directorate).

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  N. Matley and C. Coleman (Link4Life).

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Meredith

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
45 There were no declarations on interest.

MINUTES
46 Decision: That the minutes of the meeting of the Health, Children’s and 
Schools Overview & Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 23rd November 
2017, be approved as a correct record. 

LINK4LIFE MID YEAR REVIEW 2017/18
47 The Committee scrutinised a report from the Chief Executive of 
Link4Life detailing the performance of the Rochdale Boroughwide Cultural 
Trust, for the first two quarters of 2017-18 (Apr – Sept inc.).

In considering the report Members sought clarification on whether success 
rates for school swimming lessons were based on an evaluation of individual 
swimmers or of the class as a group.   

Decision:
(1) That the report be noted;
(2) Link4Life provide details of the assessment of school lessons to a future 

meeting.

Reason for decision: 
Should Link4Life not report on performance, it would contravene its 
obligations under Schedule 11 of the Partnership Agreement (‘Governance 
and Monitoring’ arrangements), which requires the Trust to attend Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee meetings and present performance reports in accordance 
with the Council’s corporate performance management framework.

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY SERVICES (SEND) - 
PRESENTATION
48 The Committee received a joint presentation from the Director of 
Children’s Services detailing the legislative requirements, action plans and 
monitoring of performance for SEND.  The Committee had requested an 
update at the meeting held on 22nd August 2017.

The Committee were informed Rochdale underwent its SEND inspection in 
November 2016 with the final report published in December 2016.  The 
inspection identified four areas to improve and three further areas to focus 
improvements.  The action plan was presented detailing the approaches being 
undertaken to develop the service further.

Decision:
That the presentation be noted but future representations to the Committee be 
via report format.    

ADOPTION ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17
49 The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Children’s 
Services which detailed the activities of the Rochdale Council Adoption 
Service for 2016/17.  

In presenting the report the Director of Children’s Services highlighted the 
national context in which the service is operating.  Of particular note was the 
requirement for all Local Authorities to become Regional Adoption Agencies 
by 2020, collaborating with other Local Authorities and Voluntary Adoption 
Agencies through formal arrangements to improve efficiency.  Rochdale 
Adoption Services formally transferred into Adoption Now in November 2017 
and subsequent reporting will reflect this change in arrangements.

Decision:
That the performance of Rochdale’s Adoption Agency, as detailed in the 
Annual Report and actions being taken to ensure continued improvement, be 
noted.

ADULT, CHILDREN & PUBLIC HEALTH DIRECTORATE PLANS 2017/18 
QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE UPDATE
50 The Committee scrutinised a joint report of the Directors of Adult Care, 
Children’s Services and Public Health which presented the third quarter 
performance updates 2017/18.

Decision:
That the third quarter performance updates from Adult Care, Children’s 
Services and Public Health, be noted.

SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS
51 The Directors of Children’s Services and Adult Services presented a 
report that provided Members with a summary of Adult and Children’s Social 
Care complaints received during the first and second quarters of 2017/18.

Page 4



Social care complaints are subject to a statutory reporting framework which 
are scrutinised by the Care Quality Commission. The Council’s Customer 
Feedback Team extracted and reported on the information recorded for social 
care services during the study period, including the number of complaints 
received at each stage of the process, the numbers of complaints that are 
investigated and responded to within the permitted timescale and the numbers 
that were upheld. 

Decision: 
That the report be noted.

Page 5



Agenda Item

Report to  Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date of Meeting 28th March 2018
Portfolio Adult Social Care
Report Author Dianne David
Public Document

Market Oversight Report Q3

1. Executive Summary

1.1     The Adult Care Service commissions external provider services to deliver 
a range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The 
Adult Care commissioning team assures the quality of these services. 

1.2 The Committee has requested quarterly updates on quality assurance 
information for the services commissioned by the Adult Care service. 
Appendix 1 of this report provides this information for quarter 3 in 
2017/18.

1.3      Appendix 2 provides a report produced for the North West Association of 
Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) on the quality of care services 
across the region. 

1. Recommendation

2.1     That the committee consider the content of the Market Oversight report.

3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1      The Adult Care Service commissions external provider services to deliver 
a range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The 
Adult Care commissioning team assures the quality of these services. The 
market oversight report presents quality assurance information for quarter 
3 of 2017/18 for the committee to scrutinise.

4. Key Points for Consideration
                       

4.1      Appendix 1 provides detailed information on quality assurance for adult care

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



commissioned services. The key points are summarised below:

In quarter three 79 service providers were reviewed using the quality assurance 
toolkit. Of these services 35 were in borough services and 44 were out of 
borough services.

In quarter three 7 services that Rochdale Borough commissions (in borough and 
out of borough) were inspected by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). Of 
these 6 (86%) were rated as good and 1(14%) was rated as Inadequate. 

In quarter three 47 complaints were received by the commissioning team about
provider services. Of these 26 were resolved, 11 are currently being investigated 
and 11 were transferred to other teams. The highest proportion of complaints 
raised involved issues with the standard of care or poor practice. The 
commissioning team investigates the complaints received about providers and 
works with providers to improve the quality of care and address instances of poor 
practice.

Information is gathered from providers about the complaints that they receive 
from service users and families. In quarter three the information gathered 
demonstrates that providers received 37 complaints and that 33 were resolved 
whilst 4 are still being investigated. The response rate from providers is low and 
we are working with them to improve this.

As part of the quality assurance process we carry out family, service user and 
staff questionnaires for those services being reviewed. In total 125 surveys were 
returned. 75% of the service users were satisfied with the support they received 
and 71% of families were satisfied with the support their family member received. 
98% of staff who responded said that they received the training and personal 
development they needed to carry out their job.

5. Costs and Budget Summary

5.1   There are no financial implications relating to this report.

6. Risk and Policy Implications

6.1   The report identifies the outcomes of the CQC inspections of regulated 
adult care services in Rochdale borough which have been inspected since 
between October 2017 and December 2017. Any risks associated with 
this are managed by the Adult Care commissioning team who work with 
the provider to improve the quality of the services.

 
For Further Information Contact: Dianne David

Dianne.david@rochdale.gov.uk
01706 922936

Page 7

mailto:Dianne.david@rochdale.gov.uk


Version 1.1

NORTH WEST ADASS PROGRAMME OFFICE

Paul Madden, Senior Analyst
paul.madden@liverpool.gov.uk, 07801 404 948

Summary of CQC Quality Ratings 
for Care Homes in Greater 
Manchester

Page 8

mailto:paul.madden@liverpool.gov.uk


Key Points

The key points to be taken from this report include:

 Care Home quality in Greater Manchester is improving, and at a faster rate than the national 
average;

 Greater Manchester Care Home quality has improved more than any other sub-region in the North 
West;

 Greater Manchester Care Home quality has improved more than any other sub region in the North 
West.  Over the 12 month period, the differences are below and it shows that GM has the highest 
improvement:

 Greater Manchester: 9.4% improvement
 Lancashire and Cumbria: 4.3% improvement
 Liverpool City Region: 0.5% improvement
 Cheshire and Warrington: 2.2% decline
 Nationally: 4.7% improvement

 Back in January 17, 50% of Care Home Beds were in the ‘Outstanding’ or ‘Good’ categories.  This has 
increased to 60% in December 17.  This means that 1,580 more Care Home beds in ‘Outstanding’ or 
‘Good’ compared to 12 months ago;

 When analysing all 151 Local Authorities in the country, 5 of the top 15 most improved are in Greater 
Manchester, with Wigan being the third most improved nationally;

 The list containing the most improved 15 contains no Local Authorities from the North West outside 
of Greater Manchester;

 In January 17, the 10 worst performing Local Authorities nationally contained 6 from GM, however 
this has now reduced to 3;

 In January 17, only 2 Greater Manchester Local Authorities were above the national average, this has 
now increased to 4.

 The gap between GM and the National Average has reduced from a 17.3% deficit to a 12.1% deficit.

 If GM was a single Local Authority, it would still be below the national average, however it must be 
emphasised the positive progress made in the past 12 months.

Page 9



The purpose of this report is to determine whether there has been an improvement in CQC quality ratings for 
Greater Manchester Care Homes between January 2017 and December 2017.

The charts above aim to show a ‘before’ and ‘after’ comparison of quality between January and December.  
The chart illustrates several noticeable improvements in the data, namely:

 The overall Greater Manchester average has improved from 50% in January to 60% in December;
 This meant in January, 8973 beds were ‘Outstanding’ or ‘Good’, but 10,553 were in December 17;
 In January, 6 of the 10 worst performing Local Authorities in the country were Greater Manchester 

Local Authorities – this has reduced to 3 in December;
 Only two Greater Manchester Local Authorities were above the National Average in January – this has 

increased to 4.
 The gap between GM and the National Average has reduced from a 17.3% deficit to a 12.1% deficit.

Despite the improvements, Greater Manchester’s average is still quite a way below the national average 
though, but these images show that the trend for GM is moving in the right direction.

When comparing Greater Manchester to the other three North West Sub Regions, the chart above shows that 
the overall rate of improvement was much greater In GM than anywhere else.  In the same period, quality has 
deteriorated in Cheshire and Warrington and remained static in the Liverpool City Region.

Page 10



The chart above tracks the progress of all 10 Greater Manchester Local Authorities from January 2017 to 
December 2017, and it shows that the vast majority have all seen noticeable improvements.

The chart (above) and table (left) show 
particularly high improvements in Wigan, 
Stockport, Rochdale, Oldham and Salford.

These have all seen a 15% or more 
improvement over the course of the last 12 
months.

Only two Local Authorities saw a reduction 
when comparing January to December and 
these were Bolton and Tameside, although 
these reductions were only very minor.

Also, despite Bolton seeing a small reduction, it 
has consistently been one of Greater 
Manchester’s best performing Local 
Authorities, and Tameside did see sharp gains 

up until October, but performance did fall in the two months subsequently.

Page 11



The table on the left shows the 
fifteen most improved Local 
Authorities in the country when 
comparing January and December 
2017.

The table indicates that of the 
top 15 nationally, 5 of them 
(33%) are from Greater 
Manchester alone.

It must also be noted that there 
aren’t any non-GM North West Local 
Authorities in this list.

Wigan was the third most improved 
Local Authority nationally.

The final chart is a simple summary per Local Authority based on December 2017’s data.  Despite the noted 
national improvement of Stockport, Rochdale and Oldham, it must be noted that these three Local Authorities 
have some of the highest rates of ‘Inadequate’ care homes in Greater Manchester.

Also, despite Manchester LA being the lowest overall for ‘Outstanding’ and ‘Good’ combined, it does have the 
highest percentage for ‘Outstanding’, with Manchester, Bury and Stockport being the only three with any 
‘Outstanding’ beds.

Page 12



Agenda Item

Report to  Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Date of Meeting 28th March 2018
Portfolio Adult Social Care
Report Author Dianne David
Public Document

Market Oversight Report Q3

1. Executive Summary

1.1     The Adult Care Service commissions external provider services to deliver 
a range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The 
Adult Care commissioning team assures the quality of these services. 

1.2 The Committee has requested quarterly updates on quality assurance 
information for the services commissioned by the Adult Care service. 
Appendix 1 of this report provides this information for quarter 3 in 
2017/18.

1.3      Appendix 2 provides a report produced for the North West Association of 
Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) on the quality of care services 
across the region. 

1. Recommendation

2.1     That the committee consider the content of the Market Oversight report.

3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1      The Adult Care Service commissions external provider services to deliver 
a range of care services to adults with eligible social care needs. The 
Adult Care commissioning team assures the quality of these services. The 
market oversight report presents quality assurance information for quarter 
3 of 2017/18 for the committee to scrutinise.

4. Key Points for Consideration
                       

4.1      Appendix 1 provides detailed information on quality assurance for adult care

Page 13



commissioned services. The key points are summarised below:

In quarter three 79 service providers were reviewed using the quality assurance 
toolkit. Of these services 35 were in borough services and 44 were out of 
borough services.

In quarter three 7 services that Rochdale Borough commissions (in borough and 
out of borough) were inspected by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). Of 
these 6 (86%) were rated as good and 1(14%) was rated as Inadequate. 

In quarter three 47 complaints were received by the commissioning team about
provider services. Of these 26 were resolved, 11 are currently being investigated 
and 11 were transferred to other teams. The highest proportion of complaints 
raised involved issues with the standard of care or poor practice. The 
commissioning team investigates the complaints received about providers and 
works with providers to improve the quality of care and address instances of poor 
practice.

Information is gathered from providers about the complaints that they receive 
from service users and families. In quarter three the information gathered 
demonstrates that providers received 37 complaints and that 33 were resolved 
whilst 4 are still being investigated. The response rate from providers is low and 
we are working with them to improve this.

As part of the quality assurance process we carry out family, service user and 
staff questionnaires for those services being reviewed. In total 125 surveys were 
returned. 75% of the service users were satisfied with the support they received 
and 71% of families were satisfied with the support their family member received. 
98% of staff who responded said that they received the training and personal 
development they needed to carry out their job.

5. Costs and Budget Summary

5.1   There are no financial implications relating to this report.

6. Risk and Policy Implications

6.1   The report identifies the outcomes of the CQC inspections of regulated 
adult care services in Rochdale borough which have been inspected since 
between October 2017 and December 2017. Any risks associated with 
this are managed by the Adult Care commissioning team who work with 
the provider to improve the quality of the services.

 
For Further Information Contact: Dianne David

Dianne.david@rochdale.gov.uk
01706 922936

Page 14

mailto:Dianne.david@rochdale.gov.uk


Version 1.1

NORTH WEST ADASS PROGRAMME OFFICE

Paul Madden, Senior Analyst
paul.madden@liverpool.gov.uk, 07801 404 948

Summary of CQC Quality Ratings 
for Care Homes in Greater 
Manchester

Page 15

mailto:paul.madden@liverpool.gov.uk


Key Points

The key points to be taken from this report include:

 Care Home quality in Greater Manchester is improving, and at a faster rate than the national 
average;

 Greater Manchester Care Home quality has improved more than any other sub-region in the North 
West;

 Greater Manchester Care Home quality has improved more than any other sub region in the North 
West.  Over the 12 month period, the differences are below and it shows that GM has the highest 
improvement:

 Greater Manchester: 9.4% improvement
 Lancashire and Cumbria: 4.3% improvement
 Liverpool City Region: 0.5% improvement
 Cheshire and Warrington: 2.2% decline
 Nationally: 4.7% improvement

 Back in January 17, 50% of Care Home Beds were in the ‘Outstanding’ or ‘Good’ categories.  This has 
increased to 60% in December 17.  This means that 1,580 more Care Home beds in ‘Outstanding’ or 
‘Good’ compared to 12 months ago;

 When analysing all 151 Local Authorities in the country, 5 of the top 15 most improved are in Greater 
Manchester, with Wigan being the third most improved nationally;

 The list containing the most improved 15 contains no Local Authorities from the North West outside 
of Greater Manchester;

 In January 17, the 10 worst performing Local Authorities nationally contained 6 from GM, however 
this has now reduced to 3;

 In January 17, only 2 Greater Manchester Local Authorities were above the national average, this has 
now increased to 4.

 The gap between GM and the National Average has reduced from a 17.3% deficit to a 12.1% deficit.

 If GM was a single Local Authority, it would still be below the national average, however it must be 
emphasised the positive progress made in the past 12 months.

Page 16



The purpose of this report is to determine whether there has been an improvement in CQC quality ratings for 
Greater Manchester Care Homes between January 2017 and December 2017.

The charts above aim to show a ‘before’ and ‘after’ comparison of quality between January and December.  
The chart illustrates several noticeable improvements in the data, namely:

 The overall Greater Manchester average has improved from 50% in January to 60% in December;
 This meant in January, 8973 beds were ‘Outstanding’ or ‘Good’, but 10,553 were in December 17;
 In January, 6 of the 10 worst performing Local Authorities in the country were Greater Manchester 

Local Authorities – this has reduced to 3 in December;
 Only two Greater Manchester Local Authorities were above the National Average in January – this has 

increased to 4.
 The gap between GM and the National Average has reduced from a 17.3% deficit to a 12.1% deficit.

Despite the improvements, Greater Manchester’s average is still quite a way below the national average 
though, but these images show that the trend for GM is moving in the right direction.

When comparing Greater Manchester to the other three North West Sub Regions, the chart above shows that 
the overall rate of improvement was much greater In GM than anywhere else.  In the same period, quality has 
deteriorated in Cheshire and Warrington and remained static in the Liverpool City Region.

Page 17



The chart above tracks the progress of all 10 Greater Manchester Local Authorities from January 2017 to 
December 2017, and it shows that the vast majority have all seen noticeable improvements.

The chart (above) and table (left) show 
particularly high improvements in Wigan, 
Stockport, Rochdale, Oldham and Salford.

These have all seen a 15% or more 
improvement over the course of the last 12 
months.

Only two Local Authorities saw a reduction 
when comparing January to December and 
these were Bolton and Tameside, although 
these reductions were only very minor.

Also, despite Bolton seeing a small reduction, it 
has consistently been one of Greater 
Manchester’s best performing Local 
Authorities, and Tameside did see sharp gains 

up until October, but performance did fall in the two months subsequently.

Page 18



The table on the left shows the 
fifteen most improved Local 
Authorities in the country when 
comparing January and December 
2017.

The table indicates that of the 
top 15 nationally, 5 of them 
(33%) are from Greater 
Manchester alone.

It must also be noted that there 
aren’t any non-GM North West Local 
Authorities in this list.

Wigan was the third most improved 
Local Authority nationally.

The final chart is a simple summary per Local Authority based on December 2017’s data.  Despite the noted 
national improvement of Stockport, Rochdale and Oldham, it must be noted that these three Local Authorities 
have some of the highest rates of ‘Inadequate’ care homes in Greater Manchester.

Also, despite Manchester LA being the lowest overall for ‘Outstanding’ and ‘Good’ combined, it does have the 
highest percentage for ‘Outstanding’, with Manchester, Bury and Stockport being the only three with any 
‘Outstanding’ beds.

Page 19



Health Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny

Date of Meeting 28th March 2018
Portfolio Adult Care
Report Author Steven Blezard
Public/Private Document Public 

Additional funding for adaptations 

Executive Summary

1. This report is to provide information on the additional government funding for 
adaptations and how we are making best use of it to support elderly, disabled 
and vulnerable residents to continue to live as independently as possible in 
their own homes for as long as they want to.

Recommendation

2. That the Committee note the changing national context of funding for 
adaptations and help to challenge the way funding is used in Rochdale to 
support the wider health and social care agenda, in order to ensure that 
funding for 2018/19 is directed in the most appropriate way.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Committee has asked for additional information on the important role 
adaptations can play in supporting people to remain independent and how 
additional Government funding is enabling a more innovative approach to 
supporting people who may not traditionally have been eligible for support.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1 The Government increased funding for the DFG (Disabled Facilities Grant) 
and made the decision to move it into the BCF in 2015-16, on the basis that 
there is a growing evidence base on the contribution that housing can make 
to good health and wellbeing. At a system level, poor housing costs the NHS 
at least £1.4bn per annum and there are also costs to local government and 
social care. On an individual level, suitable housing can help people remain 
healthier, happier and independent for longer, supporting them to perform the 
activities of daily living that are important to them – washing and dressing, 
preparing meals, staying in contact with friends and family. In recognition of 
this, the funding for DFG has been increased considerably.  

Page 20

Agenda Item 7



4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

In 2016/17 it rose by 79% from £220 million to £394 million and it is projected 
to increase to over £500 million by 2019/20.

The DFG allocation to Rochdale for 17/18 is £2,243,351.  The grant 
determination letter sent to all Local Authorities in April 2017 from DCLG 
indicates that the DFG can be used for wider social care capital projects on 
the basis that the statutory requirement to provide DFG’s can be met.

The statutory duty to provide DFG’s comes within the Housing Grants, 
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 and requires LA’s to approve an 
application for DFG within 6 months and states that lack of available funding 
would not be a valid reason for failing to approve an application.  Taking this 
into account, we need to ensure that sufficient funds from the DFG allocation 
are available to cover all DFG applications in year and that no DFG applicant 
is disadvantaged because funding has been spent elsewhere.

Adaptations are now being recognised as an important factor contributing to 
and affecting people’s health and social care needs.  The DFG legislation is 
25 years old and the landscape has changed significantly during this time.  
This combined with the additional government allocation means that it is 
important that we consider new approaches to service delivery to be more 
flexible and responsive in order to provide assistance that contributes to 
reducing the pressures on health and social care.  

The increase in funding for 2017/18, along with the ability to use some of the 
grant for wider social care capital projects, enabled a proposal for more 
innovative use of the funding to be presented to the ICB.  This was approved 
in May 2017, from the 2017/18 budget and details of the innovation grants is 
provided in Appendix A.  

The referral rate for these new forms of assistance has been extremely 
positive, especially given the relatively short time they have been available.  
This has enabled us to achieve some exceptionally positive outcomes for a 
number of residents.  The numbers of referrals for each type of assistance can 
be found in the table below:  

Assistance type Number of referrals
Falls grant 26
Dementia grant 6
Excess cold 4
Disrepair 13
DFG top up 5
Fast track DFG (DHR) 180
Total 234

Page 21



4.7

Alternatives Considered

There are no alternatives in ensuring that the statutory requirement to provide 
DFG’s is met, as this is specific in the grant determination letter.  The 
additional schemes, which complement the DFG, are in line with national good 
practice and meet the government desire to see more innovative use of the 
DFG.

Other schemes were considered, but those selected were thought to be most 
aligned to the funding conditions and national and local needs and aspirations.  
Consideration will need to be given in the near future as to proposals to be put 
forward to the ICB as part of the spending plan for 2018/19.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. The total DFG allocation for 17/18 is £2,243,351.  The ICB approved the 
spend below, based on the various schemes detailed in Appendix A and Table 
1 below, allowing for a contingency of £58,351 which the ICB can allocate to 
additional schemes or to top up schemes in Table 1 during 2017/18.  The 
amounts allocated to each of the schemes below were estimated and flexibility 
to vire budget between the various schemes was also agreed.

TABLE 1 – ALLOCATION OF DFG BUDGET

Area of spend Amount 
(£)

Reference 
(appendix A)

DFG 1,500,000
Fast track DFG 100,000 1
Top up DFG (up to £10,000) 50,000 2
Minor adaptations 100,000 8
Assistive Technology (AT) equipment 50,000 9
Dementia/Falls/Excess cold grants 50,000 4/5/6
Stair lift replacement programme 100,000 3
Adaptations repairs 20,000 7
Changing places 15,000 10
Care home grants 200,000 11
Total 2,185,000
Contingency 58,351
Total Allocation 2,243,351

Risk and Policy Implications

6. If the pilot schemes are continued into 2018/19, there will be a need to 
amend the Council Grants and Assistance policy to formalise the new 
forms of assistance.  

Page 22



Consultation

7. During 2016/17, we noted requests for assistance that we were unable to 
provide, from both health and social care colleagues and also service users 
and their families.  We have also monitored the numbers of cancellations of 
DFG applications due to means test contributions and when the cost of work 
has exceeded the maximum grant level.

We have also attended the Foundations (National Co-ordinating Body for 
Home Improvement Agencies) DFG roadshows to discuss good practice and 
innovation in DFG across the Country.

We consulted with the Manager of the Children’s Disability Service around 
adaptations provision for children and young people and also the Community 
Occupational Therapy and Moving & Handling Service Manager in the Adult 
Care Service.  Also, discussion took place with the Service Manager with 
responsibility for the Falls Service and Neuro Rehab Service with Pennine 
Acute.

All staff and colleagues who were consulted, were supportive of the new 
forms of assistance. Further feedback will be sought from colleagues and 
partners on the effectiveness of these forms of assistance and also the views 
of members of O&S, to support spending plans for 2018/19.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None N/a

For Further Information Contact: Steven Blezard

Email: steven.blezard@rochdale.gov.uk

Telephone:  01706 922964

Page 23

mailto:steven.blezard@rochdale.gov.uk
tel:+441706922964


APPENDIX 1:  INNOVATIVE FORMS OF ASSISTANCE FOR 2017/18

1. Fast track Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) - Disabled Home Repairs 
Assistance grants

Discretionary Home Repairs Assistance was in the policy from 2002 but not used for 
several years as no funding was available for discretionary assistance.  This was 
reintroduced from June 2017, with an increase in the maximum grant from £5,000 to 
£8,000, as this is more in line with current costs.  

In effect this is a DFG which is assessed by an Occupational Therapist (OT) but with 
no means test and minimal paperwork, no benefit checking, gathering financial data 
and verification.  Simple adaptations can be progressed very quickly.  One example 
is stairlift fitted within 5 days of receiving referral from OT. This could have taken 2 
months if subject to means test.

80% of DFG’s completed in 2016/17 were under £8,000.

In 16/17, approx. 70 service users didn’t progress their DFG application due to their 
means test contribution, leaving some people with a situation of risk within the home, 
or with a care package that may not have been necessary if the adaptations had 
taken place.  

This form of assistance was introduced as it was anticipated that it would have 
assisted 95% of those who had not been assisted in previous years.

2. DFG top up grant 

The maximum DFG is £30,000 and increasingly, extensions are costing between 
£30,000 and £40,000.  

In the policy the DFG top up grant is up to £10,000 as a discretionary, but this has 
not been used for several years as only mandatory grants have been funded.  In the 
original policy, they were subject to a complex hardship test.

This was re-introduced in 2017/18 without the hardship test but with a charge on the 
property with lifetime payback conditions.

In previous years, up to 10 service users per year wouldn’t proceed with their DFG 
application due to not being able to afford to contribute to the cost of works if they 
exceeded the maximum grant.

3. Stairlift replacement programme 

At the beginning of 2017/18, we had over 300 stairlifts that had previously been 
provided through DFG, which were over 8 years old and parts for many of them were 
obsolete.  These lifts were regularly breaking down and could not be repaired, 
sometimes resulting in elderly and vulnerable service users not being able to access 

Page 24



essential facilities, until a new OT assessment could be undertaken and a 
replacement stairlift ordered.  This was putting significant pressure on the OT service 
and the individual service users were having their lives disrupted.  We wanted to 
commence a pro-active programme to replace the most problematic lifts, prior to a 
crisis following breakdown.   

4. Dementia Grant 

To provide a grant of up to £2,500 for people diagnosed with Dementia living in their 
own homes to cover items such as:

 Replacing floor coverings that cause confusion or safety issues
 Replacing tiling or bathroom fittings such as toilet seats and rails to improve 

visual perception and floor coverings in ensuites if they were the same as the 
bedroom floor covering

 Changing cupboards to glass fronted doors to enable recognition of where 
items are in the kitchen

 Changing lighting schemes to improve visibility around the home
 Noise reduction measures – noisy toilet flushing, central heating pipes, noise 

from outside due to single glazed windows, noise from other rooms due to ill-
fitting doors.

 Ensuring paths/access are level and free from trip hazards

5. Falls grant

To provide a grant of up to £2,500 for people who have been admitted to hospital 
due to falls in the home, attended A&E following a fall at home, or assessed by the 
Falls Prevention team following falls, or they have been identified as being at risk of 
falls by a health or social care practitioner.  The grant would cover items such as:

 Replacing floor coverings with nonslip options
 Replacing loose floorboards
 Replacing door threshers
 Additional stair rails and alterations to stairs to make them safer

6. Repairs to adaptations 

A grant of up to £2,500 to undertake repairs to previous adaptations if the person 
who was originally assessed is still living in the property and using the adaptations.  

Many people are still living in a property 10 years after adaptations were completed 
when showers stop working, or altro flooring starts to fail to be waterproof.  These 
issues would not previously qualify for a further DFG, but would make it increasingly 
difficult for the disabled person to continue to live independently.

Page 25



7. Grants for disrepair for damp and excess cold linked to health 
conditions.  

Up to £5,000 for situations of disrepair, which are causing or contributing to damp 
and excess cold issues which can be directly linked to health conditions, such as 
asthma and COPD.  

Works such as heating provision and repair, condensation, damp proofing, 
replacement double glazed units in main habitable rooms, roofing repairs where 
water ingress is causing dampness in the property etc.  

8. Minor adaptations 

There is an increasing demand for minor adaptations costing less than the minimum 
DFG level of £1,000.  These are currently funded through a revenue budget which 
was overspent in 16/17 due to the increased demand and was likely to be so again 
in 17/18.  The cost of the more major minor adaptations could be funded through the 
DFG budget, such as external metal hand rails, steps etc., where a fixed asset has 
been created, in line with capital grant conditions.  We would also fund the minor 
adapts for children’s service to a value of 10 -15k which is currently a pressure on 
revenue in CWD team.

9. Assistive Technology equipment 

It was agreed that the DFG could fund the cost of assistive technology equipment 
such as bed sensors, property exit sensors etc. and also the use of Canary and Just 
Checking systems to be part of our offer to carers.  This would support the increased 
offer of AT as a prevention offer and supplement the relatively small AT revenue 
budget that is available.

10.Changing places 

The first specialist toilet changing facility was opened in Number One Riverside in 
April 2017 and the proposal was to fund a further 2 or 3 facilities across the Borough.  
An allocation within the DFG budget was approved but so far, despite best efforts, 
we haven’t been able to identify any suitable locations.

11.Care homes offer 

There are increasing numbers of hospital admissions from residential care homes.  It 
was approved to establish a scheme to provide grants of up to £30,000 to individual 
care homes, following an assessment to reduce admissions around areas of falls, 
dementia, digital medication management and assistive technology.  

Page 26



Document is Restricted

Page 27

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 42

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Adult Care Market Oversight Report: Quarter 3 - 2017/18
	Append. 1 for Adult Care Market Oversight Report Q3-2017/18
	Append. 2 for Adult Care Market Oversight Report Q3-2017/18
	Append. 3 for Adult Care Market Oversight Report Q3-2017/18

	7 Additional funding for adaptations
	os report dfgs appendix a mar18

	9 Adult Care Fee Levels for Commissioning Services for 2018/19
	Appendix 1-Adult Care Fee Report-2018-2019--13.03.2018


